

The Constitution of the Student
Association of Oklahoma Panhandle State
University



OKLAHOMA PANHANDLE
STATE UNIVERSITY

Table of Contents

Preamble

I. The Student Association

- 100. Name
- 101. Membership
- 102. Meetings
- 103. Funds
- 104. Government Organization

II. Executive Branch

- 200. Executive Officers
- 201. Qualifications for Officers
- 202. Election Provisions & Provisions for Assumption of Office
- 203. Powers & Duties Thereof
- 204. Qualifications to continue in office: Failure to Meet
- 205. Removal from Office
- 206. Replacement for Vice-President
- 207. Executive Council: Composition
- 208. Executive Council: Powers & Duties Thereof
- 209. Executive Council: Report of Minutes to the Senate

III. Legislative Branch

- 300. Student Senate as Legislature
- 301. Senate Officers
- 302. Association Officers as Members of the Senate
- 303. Division of Representation within the University
- 304. Election Provisions
- 305. Qualifications of Senators
- 306. Requirements for Continuing in Office
- 307. Conduct of Senate Meetings
- 308. Powers & Duties of the Senate
- 309. Censure & Expulsion of Senators
- 310. Provisions for Senate Vacancies
- 311. Provision for Selection of Senate Advisors
- 312. President Pro Tempore as Presiding Officer of the Senate

IV. Judicial Branch

- 400. Supreme Court as Judiciary Branch of the Association
- 401. Composition of the Supreme Court
- 402. Qualifications of Justices
- 403. Requirements of Justices
- 404. Provision for Selection of Chief Justice
- 405. Powers & Duties of the Supreme Court
- 406. Procedures for Constitutional Interpretation
- 407. The Supreme Court as an Impeachment Panel
- 408. The Supreme Court as an Appellate Body
- 409. The Supreme Court as an Adjudicator in Election Violations

- 410. The Supreme Court as the Court of Final Appeal
- 411. Powers & Duties of the Chief Justice
- 412. Administration of Oaths of Office for Supreme Court Justices
- 413. Removal of Supreme Court Justices from Bench
- 414. Discretionary Powers of the Supreme Court

V. Elections

- 500. Establishment of an Elections Committee
- 501. Composition of the Elections Committee
- 502. Provisions for Conflicts of Interest
- 503. Guidelines for General Elections
- 504. Filing for Offices
- 505. Qualifications for Candidacy: Check Procedure
- 506. Notification Guidelines for General Elections
- 507. Notification Guidelines for Special Elections
- 508. Provision for Election of Class Officers
- 509. Appeals for Election Committee

VI. Assumption of Offices

- 600. Date for Assuming Offices
- 601. Administration of Oaths of Office
- 602. Former Executive Council & Student Senate as Advisors VII.

Committees & Advisors

- 603. Student Representation on University Committees
- 604. Selection of Senate Advisors

VIII. Campus Organizations

- 800. Privilege of Student Organizations
- 801. Chartering Procedures
- 802. Requirements for Charter
- 803. Discrimination Clause
- 804. Disallowance of Charter
- 805. Suspension & Revocation of Charters

IX. By-laws, Amendments, & Revisions

- 900. Procedures for Creation & Adoption
- 901. Provision for Addition to Constitution
- 902. Initiation of Amendments
- 903. Constitutionality
- 904. Call for Election to Amend
- 905. Votes Required for Amendment Adoption
- 906. Procedure for Constitution Revision

Preamble

We, the students of Oklahoma Panhandle State University, in order to exercise the powers delegated to us by the University: to develop self-governance; to foster closer relationships among University Administration, faculty, and the student body; to advise Administration, faculty, and students when deemed appropriate; to uphold student rights; and to promote the highest ideals and best services for OPSU; do hereby establish and promulgate the following Constitution.

Article 1: The Student Association

100. The name of this organization shall be "The Student Association of Oklahoma Panhandle State University," hereinafter referred to as the Association.
101. All students paying "Student Senate Fees" shall be members of the Association
102. The Association will meet at such times and places as provided by action of: the Student Senate, the Association President, or upon petition by twenty percent (20%) of the Association members to the Association President.
103. The funds of the Association will be deposited in and disbursed through the University Business office. All disbursements will be in accordance with State and University procedures.
104. The Association Government will be vested in three separate branches: executive, legislative, and judicial. The Legislative Branch shall be the Student Senate, hereafter referred to as the Senate; the Judicial Branch shall be the Student Supreme Court, hereafter referred to as the Supreme Court.

Article 2: The Executive Branch

200. There will be seven (7) Executive Officers for the Association: President, Vice-President, Secretary, Treasurer, President Pro Tempore, Correspondence Secretary, and Parliamentarian hereafter known as the Executive Council. The offices of President, Vice President, Secretary and Treasurer will be selected based on election. The offices of President Pro Tempore, Correspondence Secretary, and Parliamentarian will come from within the body of the Student Senate and will be selected based on a simple majority vote of the senate as convened the second (2~ meeting of the fall semester.
201. The following qualifications must be met to run for Executive Office.
 - A. President: must have completed a minimum of forty-five (45) semester hours prior to filing for office, possess a minimum cumulative GPA of 2.5, and be currently enrolled in twelve (12) or more semester hours; must have been an Association member for the two (2) semesters immediately prior to filing; and have served in the Senate for at least two (2) semesters while attending OPSU.
 - B. Vice-President: must satisfy the same qualifications as President, as he/she will be President if the President is unable to perform the duties of office.

- C. Secretary: must have a minimum cumulative GPA of 2.5, or a minimum 3.0 GPA for each of the two (2) semesters immediately prior to filing, having completed forty-five (45) semester hours at time of filing, and be currently enrolled in twelve (12) or more semester hours; must have been an Association member for two (2) semesters immediately prior to filing; and must have served in the Senate for at least one (1) semester while at OPSU.
 - D. Treasurer: must have a minimum cumulative GPA of 2.5, or a minimum 3.0 GPA for each of the two (2) semesters immediately prior to filing, having completed forty-five (45) semester hours at time of filing, and be currently enrolled in twelve (12) or more semester hours; must have been an Association member for at least two (2) semester prior to filing; and must have served in the Senate for at least one (1) semester while at OPSU.
 - E. President Pro Tempore: must have served in the Senate for at least one (1) semester immediately prior to filing.
 - F. Correspondence Secretary: must meet all the requirements as a current serving senator.
 - G. Parliamentarian: must meet all the requirements as a current serving senator.
 - H. In order to fill vacant positions, if the above qualifications cannot be met, requirements may be waived at the discretion of the President and Vice-President of the Student Association. Each waiver shall be granted only with the advice and consent of a simple majority of the Senate as convened.
202. The President, Vice President, Secretary, and the Treasurer of the Association, Executive Officers will be elected by majority vote of the Association, in accordance with the election procedures specified in Article 5. The President Protempore, Correspondence Secretary, and the Parliamentarian shall be elected based on a majority of the senate as convened during the fourth meeting of the fall semester or as necessary following vacancies of office. The President, Vice President, Secretary, and Treasurer of the Association. All officers will assume office the first Senate meeting as convened in April. Should classes not be scheduled for that day or runoff elections be required, then assumption of office will be postponed until the second (2nd) Thursday of April. The term of office for each will be one year.
203. The Powers and Duties of each Officer shall be as follows.
- A. President
 - 1. Shall be responsible for upholding this Constitution and all legislation enacted by the Senate, and execution thereof.
 - 2. May appoint an Executive Assistant.
 - 3. Should a vacancy occur in either position, the President shall appoint (with the advice and consent of a simple majority of the Senate, as convened, a Secretary or Treasurer to fill an unexpired term.
 - 4. With the advice and consent of a simple majority of the Senate as convened, shall appoint Association Representatives to University Committees.
 - 5. Shall appoint Representatives and Chairpersons to all Association Committees.
 - 6. In case of vacancy in the Senate, shall recommend qualified candidates to the Executive Council for due consideration.
 - 7. Shall introduce such legislation and/or recommendations to the Senate as the President deems fit.

8. May veto any legislation of the Senate, provided such veto power is exercised prior to the next meeting of the senate or within seventy-two (72) hours, whichever should come first. Notice of veto shall be delivered to the Vice-President or to a Senate Advisor. Provided: Such veto may be overruled as per § 308, No. 1 of this Constitution.
9. Shall represent the Student Association to the University President, the Board of Regents, and the State Regents for Higher Education.
10. By the first meeting in September of each year, and as vacancies occur he/she must appoint Justices to the Supreme Court, subject to the advice and consent of a simple majority of the Senate as convened.
11. While holding office, the President is prohibited from serving as an Executive Officer of any class or organization, nor will the President hold any position of employment which substantially impairs the performance of the above enumerated duties or exercise of powers.
12. As they exist, declare the vacancy of other Executive Offices.
13. Shall be the Chair of the Executive Council

B. Vice-President

1. Shall be the Presiding Officer of the Senate.
2. Shall the Association President be temporarily incapacitated, or otherwise temporarily unable to perform the duties of office, the Vice-President shall be empowered to act in the name of the President, with all rights and duties appertaining thereto.
3. If the office of Association President shall be vacated, the Vice-President shall immediately assume the office, title, powers, and duties of Association President. The office of Vice-President shall then be declared vacant.

C. Secretary

1. Shall be Secretary of the Senate.
2. Shall keep complete and accurate approved minutes of all meetings of the Association, Executive Council, and Senate.
3. Shall be bound by the Oklahoma Open Records Act.
4. Shall be responsible for the posting of Association and Senate Meeting notices at least forty-eight (48) hours prior to convening of such meetings.
 - A. In the Student Affairs Office
 - B. On the doors of the meeting place
 - C. On the campus bulletin board outside of the Student Union
5. An Association member appointed to this office must meet the same qualifications as if elected to this office.

D. Treasurer

1. Shall be Treasurer of the Senate.
2. Shall keep accurate and complete records of all payments, receipts, and expenditures of the Association.
3. Shall present all authorized Association bills to the University Business Office for payment.
4. Shall be prepared to present a current report on finances at each meeting of the Senate.

5. Shall be bound by the Oklahoma Open Records Act.
6. An Association member appointed to this office must meet the same qualifications as if elected to this office.

E. President Pro Tempore

1. In the absence of the Senate President, the President Pro Tempore shall be the Presiding officer of the Senate.
2. Shall operate one meeting each semester F.

Correspondence Secretary

3. Shall be the liaison between Senate and any other form of media and communications both on and off the campus of Oklahoma Panhandle State University

G. Parliamentarian

1. Shall advise the chair on matters of procedure during Senate meetings.

204. Each Executive Officer must continue to meet the initial qualifications throughout his/her term of office. Failure to do so will require the Association President to declare that office vacant. Exception: When the President Pro Tempore of the Senate has assumed the Office of Vice-President, he/she must only continue to meet the qualifications required for election to Senate.
205. Any Association Executive Office shall be declared vacant by the Association President when the officeholder:
 - (1) ceases to be an association member regularly enrolled in a minimum of twelve (12) semester hours;
 - (2) is impeached and convicted of malfeasance, misfeasance, or nonfeasance of office;
 - (3) is placed in University disciplinary probation;
 - (4) is found to have failed to meet the initial qualifications for office; or
 - (5) fails to comply with § 204. (See § 411 and § 206.)
206. Should the office of Vice-President be declared vacant, the President Pro Tempore of the Senate shall assume the office with all powers and duties appertaining thereto.
207. The Executive Council of the Association shall be composed of the following ex officio members: Association President, Association Vice-President, Association Secretary, Association Treasurer, President Pro Tempore of the Senate, Senate Parliamentarian, and the Senate Corresponding Secretary.
208. The Powers and Duties of the Executive Council shall be as follows:
 - A. By the first (1st) Senate meeting in October of each year, the Executive Council shall have prepared and submitted to the Senate an initial budget for the current academic year.
 - B. In the absence of specific legislation by the Senate, the Executive Council shall have the authority to conduct all Association business, excluding allocation and disbursement of Association funds. Said business shall include, but not be limited to, setting a calendar of events, arranging facilities, conducting polls, and coordinating Association activities in cooperation with University personnel designated for that purpose.

- C. In case of permanent vacancy in the Senate, the Executive Council shall appoint a replacement, subject to the advice and consent of a simple majority of the Senate as convened.
 - D. Upon declaration of emergency by the Association President, the Executive Council, in unanimous agreement, shall be empowered to allocate and disburse a maximum of one hundred dollars (\$100) from Association funds. Such action may only occur once prior to a meeting of the Senate. The maximum amount shall be subject to change through the bylaw.
209. Minutes of each Executive Council Meeting shall be reported by the Association Secretary at the next meeting of the Senate following the Executive Council Meeting.

Article 3: The Legislative Branch

300. The legislative Powers of the Association shall be vested in the Student Senate.
301. The Association Vice-President shall be the President of the Senate. The Secretary and Treasurer of the Association shall be the Secretary and Treasurer of the Senate (see § 203B, 203C, & 2030). The following officers shall be elected by a simple majority vote of the Senate from its membership: President Pro Tempore, Parliamentarian, and Corresponding Secretary. Election shall take place each when the new Senate takes office, and whenever else the Senate shall deem necessary.
302. Association officers holding Senate offices shall be ex officio members of the Senate, with all voting privileges appertaining thereto.
303. Representation in the Senate will be apportioned among the following four (4) divisions: Academic Area, Housing, and Student Class.
- A. There shall be one (1) representative from each Academic Department of each school, see § 305 C.
 - B. There shall be two (2) representatives from each major residence hall living unit (defined as one that contains fifty (50) students); two (2) representatives of Married Student Housing; and two (2) representatives of Off-Campus Housing. See § 305 D.
 - C. There shall be two (2) representatives from each class (Freshman, Sophomore, Junior, and Senior, respectively).
 - D. There shall be one (1) representative for every chartered campus organization.
304. All representatives to the Senate shall be elected according to the provisions of Article 5. Exceptions: Freshman representatives shall be elected at a class meeting to be held during the first (1st) full week of classes in the Fall Semester.
305. The following are qualifications for election to the Senate:
- A. Be an Association member enrolled in a minimum of twelve (12) hours.
 - B. Other than first semester Freshmen, must possess a minimum cumulative GPA of 2.0.
 - C. If representing an Academic Department, be officially listed as a Major or Minor in the Department being represented.

- D. If representing a Housing Area, be occupying a residence of the living unit being represented.
 - E. If representing a class, be officially classified by the university registrar as being in the class represented based upon credit hours completed.
306. The qualifications for election to Senate shall constitute the requirements for maintaining office. A Senate seat shall be declared vacant when its holder fails to meet said requirements as verified by a Senate Advisor. Such declaration of vacancy shall be made by the Presiding Officer of the Senate.
307. Senate Meetings shall be conducted according to the following guidelines:
- A. Except as specified in the Constitution and its bylaws, meetings shall be conducted in accordance with the latest edition of the Standard Code of Parliamentary Procedure.
 - B. Proxy votes are prohibited.
 - C. The Senate shall hold regular meetings beginning the first (1st) full week of classes in both the Fall and Spring semesters. The frequency of meetings shall be established by the Executive Council, providing that each meeting shall be announced at least forty-eight (48) hours in advance of the meeting time.
 - D. The Secretary shall see that minutes of each meeting are conspicuously posted on campus within five (5) class days following the meeting at which they were approved.
 - E. Barring extenuating circumstances, in order to be excused, a Senator must contact an Executive Council member prior to the meeting.
 - F. Three (3) unexcused absences shall be deemed dereliction of office (see § 308H, and 309).
 - 1. Any Senator accumulating three (3) unexcused absences shall be automatically suspended from office.
 - 2. Suspension as specified above may be rescinded by a simple majority vote of the Senate as convened, providing appeal for rescission is requested at the first (1st) Senate meeting following the Senator's suspension.
 - 3. If appeal for rescission is not made, then the Senator shall be automatically expelled from the Senate, and his or her office declared vacant. Such expulsion will take place at the second (2nd) Senate meeting following the suspension for absences.
 - 4. Provided: the Senator in question shall receive seventy-two (72) hours notice of suspension in order to pursue the appeal process.
 - G. A simple majority of the Senate membership shall constitute a quorum.
308. The powers and duties of the Senate shall be as follows:
- A. To make rules affecting the governing of the Association;
 - B. To schedule, control, and manage various campus activities;
 - C. To issue and deny charters for Campus Organizations; provided, the University President shall have power of denial for cause;
 - D. To suspend or revoke charters of Campus Organizations for cause. There shall be two (2) avenues for appeal;
 - 1. To the Association Supreme Court; and

- 2. To the University President.
 - E. To expend funds allocated to it in a manner consistent with its obligations to serve the Association, and in accord with State Law;
 - F. To confirm appointments proposed by the Association President or Executive Council as specified elsewhere in this Constitution;
 - G. By a simple majority vote of the Senate as convened. to lodge articles of impeachment against any Association Officer; provide that the Senate shall be bound to present articles of impeachment upon written petition by twenty percent (20%) of the Association membership;
 - H. By a simple majority vote of the Senate as convened, to censure or expel a Senate member for cause; and
 - I. By a simple majority vote of the Senate as convened, to override a veto of the Association President.
309. Senate members shall be subject to censure or expulsion for the following causes;
- A. Dereliction of Office;
 - B. Misfeasance of Office;
 - C. Malfeasance of Office;
 - D. Nonfeasance of Office;
 - E. University Disciplinary Probation; and
 - F. Arrest and Conviction for any Felony crime.
310. Permanent vacancies in the Senate shall be filled as specified in Section 208 of this Constitution. Appointments must meet all qualifications for election to office.
311. Each April, the Senate shall submit a recommendation list of three (3) to six (6) faculty/staff members' names to the University President who shall then appoint the Advisors to the Student Senate. Provided:
- A. Any faculty/staff member, who has been recommended and agreed to serve in this capacity, shall be recognized as a Senate Advisor, upon a simple majority vote of the Senate as convened.
 - B. The Director of Student Activities and/or the Campus Events Coordinator shall be an ex officio Advisor to the Senate.

Article 4: The Judicial. Branch

400. The Judicial Power of the Association shall be vested in the Student Supreme Court, hereafter referred to as the Supreme Court.
401. There shall be five (5) Justices appointed to the Supreme Court, as specified in § 203ANo.10.
402. The following shall be qualifications for appointment to the Supreme Court:
- A. Possess a minimum cumulative GPA of 2.75;
 - B. Be enrolled in a minimum of twelve (12) semester hours throughout his or her term of office;
 - C. Have been an Association member for a minimum of three (3) full semesters prior to semester of appointment.
403. Each Justice must continue to meet initial qualifications throughout his/her term of office, or such office shall be declared vacant by the Association President.

404. A Chief Justice shall be chosen by the Justices, from within the Justices.
405. The Powers and Duties of the Court shall be as follows:
- A. To interpret this Constitution as provided in § 406;
 - B. To adjudicate impeachment proceedings as provided in § 407;
 - C. To adjudicate appeals as provided elsewhere in this Constitution, and § 408;
 - D. To adjudicate proceedings brought forth by the Governmental Election Committee, as provided in § 409.
406. The Court shall render an interpretation of the Constitution according to the following procedures:
- A. Upon written request of the Association President-and Association Secretary
 - B. When requested by a simple majority vote of the Senate as convened;
 - C. Upon submission of written petition signed by twenty percent (20%) of the Association membership;
 - D. Such interpretations, such as A, B, and C, may be requested prior to passage of Legislation or as acts of Judicial Review.
407. When the Senate has lodged Articles of Impeachment against an Association Officer, the Supreme Court shall sit in judgment. The President Pro Tempore of the Senate, or his or her designate (when approved by simple majority vote of the Senate as convened), shall represent the Senate in impeachment proceedings. The officer so charged shall be provided opportunity to respond to or rebut all allegations, in open meeting with the Supreme Court.
408. As provided elsewhere in this Constitution, the Supreme Court shall serve as an appellate body, upon receipt of written petition.
409. Upon the presentation of charges by the Governmental Elections Committee, the Supreme Court shall adjudicate and, if substantiated, fix penalty for violation of Election Laws.
410. Except as specifically provided for in this Constitution, decisions of the Supreme Court are not subject to appeal.
411. It shall be the duty of the Chief Justice to:
1. Deliver the decisions of the Supreme Court;
 2. Administer the Oath of Office to Association Officers;
 3. When necessary, as provided in this Constitution, to declare vacancy in the Office of President, and
 4. To preside at meetings of the court.
412. The Association President shall administer the Oath of Office to Justices.
413. Justices are subject to removal from office upon a three-fourths (3/4) majority vote of the Senate as convened.
414. The Supreme Court shall exercise discretionary power in its procedures and proceedings. in such matters as scheduling. time limitations. meeting location, given that it shall provide for adequate presentation of all sides in an issue brought before it.

Article 5: Elections

500. All campus elections shall be conducted under the sponsorship of the Student Senate, and under the specific supervision of the Governmental Elections Committee. The Senate shall promulgate regulations for elections as may be deemed needed for their proper conduct.
501. There shall be five (5) Association members appointed to the Governmental Elections Committee, such appointments to be made no later than the first (1st) Senate meeting of each semester. All Senate Advisors shall be ex officio nonvoting members of the Committee. Committee appointments shall be made by the Presiding Officer of the Senate, with the advice and consent of a simple majority of the Senate as convened.
502. No member may remain on the Committee during an election in which he/she is a candidate for office in a contested race. In such cases a temporary appointment will be made until the completion of the election in question, with the original member being restored to the committee thereafter.
503. The following guidelines shall apply to the General Election:
- A. The election of Association Officers and Senators shall take place during the last full week of classes in March. Ballots shall be cast on Tuesday, Wednesday, and Thursday of election week.
 - B. Should no candidate for an office receive a simple majority vote, a runoff election shall be conducted during the week following the General Elections. Candidates for each runoff election shall consist of the two candidates receiving the greatest number of votes in the primary. Class schedule permitting, runoff elections shall be conducted on Tuesday, Wednesday, and Thursday of election week.
 - C. Ballots cast during the election shall be tabulated by the Governmental Election Committee no later than twenty-four (24) hours after closing of the polls. A Senate Advisor must be in attendance at the tabulation.
 - D. Any office not filled by General Election shall be declared vacant and the applicable appointment procedure shall be adhered to.
 - E. Candidates shall be qualified for office based on the following criteria:
 1. Candidates must have an application consisting of general information, plus a petition signed by twenty-five (25) students who are currently enrolled at Oklahoma Panhandle State University.
 2. Applications and petitions must be turned into the Association President upon completion.
504. The following shall be necessary for election candidacy.
- A. Any person desiring candidacy for office in the General Elections must file a written notice of intent in the Office of Student Affairs. Notice of intent must include:
 1. The office sought
 2. Candidate's satisfaction of office requirements as detailed in §201
 3. Petition of support signed by at least 25 current Association members
 4. Completion of a general information sheet available in the Office of Student Affairs.
 - B. The filing period shall begin at 8 a.m. exactly three academic class weeks prior to the start of the General Elections and close at 4:30 P.M. exactly on the Friday of the last full week of classes prior to Spring Break, regardless of date.

505. The Student Affairs Office shall notify the Elections Committee of any candidate who fails to meet the qualifications for the office being sought, and the name of such candidate shall be stricken from the ballot. Such notification must be delivered no later than Thursday noon prior to elections. A list of qualified candidates must be made public no later than four-thirty o'clock (4:30) PM of the Thursday prior to Elections.
506. The following public notification guidelines shall be met for General Elections:
- A. Announcements of the date and place of elections, voting regulations, filing dates, and list of offices open for election, shall appear in at least one issue of the University Newspaper prior to opening of the filing period. Publication dates permitting, additional announcements shall be published prior to election dates.
 - B. Announcement material should also be furnished to the University media.
 - C. Information as specified in subsection (A) shall also be conspicuously posted within the Student Union.
 - D. The filing deadline, as well as all offices open for election and other relevant information pertaining to the general election, shall be emailed to the entire student body by the Correspondence Secretary of the Student Senate no later than the first day of the filing period. The Correspondence Secretary shall be responsible for the announcement and publication of all relevant information pertaining to Student Association elections by the appropriate date.
507. Notice of all Special Elections of whatever nature, when conducted under the auspices of the Senate, shall be made by the Elections Committee at least two (2) weeks prior to balloting.
508. The election of Class Officers shall take place no later than the second (2nd) full week of classes in the Fall Semester. The Association President shall call for a meeting of each Class in order to conduct such elections. Two Association officers shall be responsible for the conduct of each Class Election.
509. A candidate desiring to appeal a ruling of the Governmental Elections Committee shall petition the Supreme Court to adjudicate. However, the Supreme Court shall be limited to ruling on the applicability of Governmental Elections Committee rules, and the constitutionality thereof.

Article 6: Assumption of Office

600. Except as provided in § 202, Association Executive Officers and Senators shall be sworn in and assume office at the first (1st) Senate Meeting following election or appointment.
601. The Chief Justice shall administer the Oath of Office to the Association President. The Association Vice-President shall administer the Oath of Office to the Senate Members and Senate. (See § 411.)
602. The outgoing Executive Council shall serve in an advisory capacity for the remainder of the Spring Semester.

Article 7: Committees and Advisors

700. Student Representatives on University Committees shall be appointed as specified in § 203 A No.4, excepting those committees on which Association Officers serve as ex officio members.
701. Advisors to the Senate shall be appointed as per § 311.

Article 8: Campus Organizations

800. All Student Organizations must be chartered in order to enjoy the use of University resources and Sponsorship.
801. An Organization shall be granted Charter by the Senate upon submission of an acceptable Constitution. Two (2) copies of each Organization's Constitution shall be on file as follows:
1. One copy is to be retained in the Senate Office; and
 2. One copy is to be retained in the Student Affairs Office.
802. For a Constitution to be acceptable, it must contain each of the following:
1. A Statement of Purpose in keeping with the educational aims of the University Mission;
 2. Requirements for membership; and
 3. Method of determining leadership
803. Requirements for Membership in an Organization shall not be discriminate on the basis of sex, age, religion, race, or ethnic origin.
804. The University President shall retain the right to disallow any Charter for reasons of clear and present danger to the University Mission or environment, provided the President shall have appointed and received input and counsel of a committee composed of the following people:
1. The Current Faculty Senate President;
 2. The Student Association President;
 3. One Appointed Faculty Member;
 4. One Appointed Student Member; and
 5. The Vice President for Student Affairs (Chair).
805. Any Organization shall be subject to suspension or revocation of Charter for the following reasons:
1. Discrimination in violation of § 803;
 2. Violation of University Rules and Regulations, or active promotion of such violations by its membership;
 3. Demonstrated failure of the Organization to conduct two (2) activities during a one (1) year period.
 4. Club or organization does not provide adequate representation as decided upon by a majority vote of the Senate at the beginning of each school year.

Article 9: By-Laws. Amendments and Revisions

900. By-laws and amendments to by-laws may be adopted, providing they are voted on at a regular Senate meeting, having been moved and seconded at a prior regular meeting of the senate. Adoption of by-laws and amendments to by-laws require a simple majority vote of the Senate as convened.
901. By-laws and amendments to by-laws shall be appended to the Constitution with the date of their adoptions.
902. Proposals to amend this Constitution shall be made by either
1. A simple majority vote of the Senate as convened, or
 2. By petition signed by ten percent (10%) of the Association Membership. If proposal is made by petition, the documents must contain the proposed amendment(s) with reference to the Section(s) of the Constitution to be affected.

903. Upon presentation of petition, the Supreme Court shall rule on its validity, solely on the basis of validity of signatures and in accord with § 900.
904. Upon receipt of a valid petition to amend, or legislation of the Senate, the Elections Committee shall call a Special Election of the Association, to be held within four (4) weeks. The proposed amendment(s) and election notification must be published in at least one (1) edition of the campus newspaper.
- 905. A simple majority of votes cast by Association members shall be necessary for adoption of Constitutional amendments. Amendments so adopted shall take effect immediately.
906. This Constitution may be revised according to the following procedures:
- A. A motion to revise must be passed by a simple majority of the Senate as convened.
 - B. Upon passage of a motion to revise, a Constitutional Revision Committee shall be designated, consisting of the following members:
 1. Association President;
 2. Association Vice-President
 3. President pro tempore of the Senate
 4. One (1) member of the University Administration (to be selected by the University President);
 5. Senate Advisors; and
 6. Two (2) Association members chosen by majority vote of the Senate.
 - C. Revisions proposed by the Constitutional Revision Committee shall be submitted to the Senate, which may choose to adopt such revisions by a simple majority vote.
 - D. Proposed Constitutional revisions, upon being adopted by the Senate, will be submitted to the University President for approval. Proposed Constitutional revisions rejected by the University President shall be returned to the Senate accompanied by written reasons for his/her disapproval. The Senate retains the right to resubmit rejected proposed Constitutional revisions.
 - E. Constitutional revisions approved by the University President shall be submitted to the Association in General Elections or by Special Election. Such revisions shall be ratified by a simple majority vote of the Association members so voting.